Copyright

by

Frida Mora de Luna

2023

ATTACHMENT THEORY AND SEX ED: EXPLORING HISPANIC/LATINA MOTHER'S CONFIDENCE AND EXPECTATIONS WHEN DISCUSSING SEXUAL HEALTH WITH THEIR DAUGHTERS

by

Frida Mora de Luna, B.S.

THESIS

Presented to the Faculty of

The University of Houston-Clear Lake

In Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements

For the Degree

MASTERS OF ARTS in Clinical Psychology

THE UNIVERSITY OF HOUSTON-CLEAR LAKE
AUGUST, 2023

ATTACHMENT THEORY AND SEX ED: EXPLORING HISPANIC/LATINA MOTHER'S CONFIDENCE AND EXPECTATIONS WHEN DISCUSSING SEXUAL HEALTH WITH THEIR DAUGHTERS

by
Frida Mora de Luna
APPROVED BY
Mary B. Short, Ph.D., Chair
Giazú Enciso Domínguez, Ph.D., Committee Member
APPROVED BY THE COLLEGE OF HUMAN SCIENCES AND HUMANITIES:
Dean's Office

Dedication

با سپاس فراوان از هیلدا و مجید، که با عشق و پشتیبانی بی دریغشان در این راه مرا یاری نمودند
A mamá y papá, quiero que sepan que esta tesis no es sólo mía,
sino también de ustedes.

A mi querido hermano, Rodrigo, gracias por ser mi compañero y fuente constante de motivación.

Acknowledgements

This thesis would not exist without the collective power of those who supported me.

I would first like to thank the mothers whose experiences serve as the basis for this project, and the assistance provided by the Student Research Grant from The Society for the Scientific Study of Sexuality (SSSS).

Thank you to my advisor, Dr. Mary Short, for your willingness to take a chance on me. I deeply value the opportunity to learn from you. Your genuine care for students, for me, greatly contributed to the positive experience I had in this program. If it wasn't for the late-night emails, I don't know if I could have finished this.

Gracias a la Dra. Giazú Enciso Domínguez por la dedicación y el esfuerzo que ha puesto en mejorar este estudio y contribuir a mi crecimiento profesional. Su paciencia y ánimo a lo largo de este proceso es algo que llevaré conmigo el resto de mi carrera profesional.

I would like to express my appreciation for my graduate mentors. To Gabrielle Longo, thank you for choosing me as your undergraduate mentee and believing I was capable of turning an idea into reality. To Dr. Joanne Angosta, I treasure your patience, skills and unconditional support throughout this process.

Thank you Dr. Elil Yuvarajan and Dr. Katie Ranton, my clinical supervisors, for allowing me to grow as a clinician while also allowing me to see that I have something valuable to contribute to our discipline.

I would also like to express my gratitude towards the families who have offered unwavering support and motivation in these past few years. To my Lenscrafters family, Anthony, Daniel, Frida, Jackie, Heather, Sam, and Kassie, for spending countless hours and late-night shifts listening to my lectures and encouraging me to continue in my

education. To my program cohort, it's been wonderful sharing this journey with you all. Ivette, your presence and seeing you become a mom served as a source of inspiration for me. Haley, our friendship was the best surprise of our graduate program. To Lisandra, Betty, and Alyssa, thank you for helping me stay motivated and for always reminding me that I'm almost done with this degree.

To my chosen family, I appreciate all the times you have welcomed me into your arms and showered me with love and care. Gilbert, thank you for taking on the role of big brother and showing me how proud you were of me. Linda, thank you for being the kind of sister I never had and for your patience whenever I was feeling overwhelmed. Kelley, I appreciate your support and your belief in me when I had to make one of the most difficult decisions of my life. Armon, your cooking never failed me and your dedication in law school inspired me to keep going when the going got tough.

Lastly, to my best friend, loving partner, Millad. Thank you for being a transformative force in my life. Your unconditional love and company have always been the driving force behind my success. Through this adventure, you've helped me remember that it is in the process where you find happiness. Thank you for believing I was worth this journey.

ABSTRACT

ATTACHMENT THEORY AND SEX ED: EXPLORING HISPANIC/LATINA MOTHER'S CONFIDENCE AND EXPECTATIONS WHEN DISCUSSING SEXUAL HEALTH WITH THEIR DAUGHTERS

> Frida Mora de Luna University of Houston-Clear Lake, 2023

Thesis Chair: Mary B. Short, Ph.D.

Effective and open communication about sexual and reproductive health can have a positive effect on the health outcomes of Hispanic/Latina youth; however, parents face numerous barriers when attempting to engage in such communication. Given that maternal figures are frequently the primary educators in sexual health matters, this study seeks to examine the internal processes associated with mothers' intentions to discuss sex-related topics with their daughters. A digital flyer was used to recruit 79 Hispanic/ Latina mothers to complete a survey on this topic. Results indicate mothers who reported a high level of avoidance related to attachment tend to have lower levels of self-efficacy, while mothers who reported a high level of anxiety related to attachment are more likely to experience lower levels of positive emotions and cognitions when it comes to their expectations about the outcome of conversations with their daughters. The results of this study indicate that the attachment dimensions play a significant role in parental intentions to engage in sexual health conversations. Specifically, it is crucial to focus on enhancing

self-efficacy and fostering a sense of responsibility among mothers in educating their daughters about sexual and reproductive health. By prioritizing these factors, efforts to increase maternal engagement in sexual health conversations can be more effective and potentially result in better sexual health outcomes for Hispanic/Latina youth.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Tables	X
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION	1
Risky Sexual Behaviors among Youth in the United States	1
Race and Gender Disparities	
Protective Factors	3
Mothers as Primary Educators	7
Dynamics of Communication	
Barriers to Sexual Communication in the Hispanic/Latin Community	11
Psychosocial Variables Associated with Lack of Sexual Communication	
Attachment Theory	
Overview of the Current Study	
CHAPTER II: METHODOLOGY	16
Participants	16
Procedure	
Measures	18
Data Analysis	
Power Analysis	
CHAPTER III: RESULTS	22
Demographics	22
Relationships between Outcome Variables, Demographics and	
Standardized Measures	22
Linear Regression Main Outcomes	
CHAPTER IV: DISCUSSION	27
Limitations	30
REFERENCES	34

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Descriptive Statistics for Mother Participants	24
Table 2 Pearson Correlation	25
Table 3 Regression Analysis for Mother's Confidence and Outcomes Associated	
with Sexual Health Conversations	26

CHAPTER I:

INTRODUCTION

Risky Sexual Behaviors among Youth in the United States

The behaviors and experiences that occur during childhood and adolescence have a substantial influence on present and future health outcomes (Braveman & Barclay, 2009), including outcomes related to sexual health (Hillis et al., 2001; Scott et al., 2011). As children enter the adolescent stage, risk taking and impulsivity increases (Romer, 2010). In fact, this period is usually defined by an increase in sexual behaviors (Council, Hofferth & Hayes, 2016), and the engagement in these sexual is a fundamental part of an individual's growth and development. However, there exist potential adverse consequences that may be linked to such behaviors. Risky sexual behavior is most commonly defined as engaging in sexual activities that may lead to negative health consequences (e.g., early sexual debut, incorrect/inconsistent use of protection against STDs and pregnancy, and having multiple/irregular partners; Chawla & Sarkar, 2019). In fact, if adolescents and young adults engage in risky sexual behaviors, they are more susceptible to adverse health outcomes if they engage in risky sexual behaviors (Malhotra, 2008; Nguyen et al, 2017; Ritchwood et al., 2015). As shown in recent reports, individuals between the ages of 13 and 24 constituted 20% of newly diagnosed HIV cases, and the same age group accounted for over 50% of the nearly 20 million new cases of sexually transmitted diseases in the United States (CDC, 2021a). Additionally, more than 145,000 infants were born to adolescent females (Bearak 2021; Hamilton, 2022). Although current U.S. trends show prevalence of high-risk sexual behaviors among adolescents have decreased (e.g., having multiple partners, being sexually active; CDC, 2021b), the prevalence of preventative sexual behaviors (e.g., condom use, STD

and HIV testing) has also decreased, suggesting there is a need for further efforts in the prevention of adverse sexual health outcomes.

Race and Gender Disparities

While these issues are problematic across genders and races, racial-ethnic minority youth are disproportionately impacted compared to White alone non-Hispanic youth living in the United States (CDC, 2021b). Studies have found that African American adolescents exhibit a higher likelihood of having engaged in sexual activity with four or more partners over the course of their lifetime (Ritchwood et al., 2017; Coakley et al., 2017). Further, the prevalence of Chlamydia and Gonorrhea infections among individuals of Hispanic/Latino (H/La) ethnicity was found to be twice as high as that observed among their White alone non-Hispanic counterparts (CDC, 2018). The term "Hispanic" pertains to an individual who possesses ancestral ties to a nation where the predominant language is Spanish. The term "Latino/a" denotes individuals who trace their origins to any part of Latin America, encompassing countries such as Mexico, South and Central America, as well as the Caribbean (Lopez, Krogstad & Passel, 2022). In the present study, the terms "Hispanic" and "Latino/a" are utilized interchangeably to refer to this particular demographic.

Gender is a significant determinant in the health disparities observed within minority communities. Minority female adolescents are disproportionately affected (Badolato et al., 2022; Makrides et al., 2023). According to a seroepidemiologic study, the prevalence of HIV among adolescent girls of African American descent is notably higher than that of male adolescents of African American, White, and H/La descent (Valleroy et al., 1998). In another study, adolescent females that identify as African American and H/La reported increased instances of risky sexual behaviors when under the influence of drugs and alcohol, leading to a decline in the adoption of protective

measures such as condom use or other forms of contraception (Bachanas et al., 2002). Moreover, the prevalence of adverse sexual health outcomes is more elevated among adolescent females of H/La origin. Multiple studies indicate that H/La exhibit a higher incidence of cervical cancer diagnosis, rank among the highest in terms of repeat teen pregnancy prevalence and display a lower likelihood of utilizing contraception (Abma et al., 2004; ACS, 2023; CDC, 2013). Bachanans et al. (2002) revealed that there was a relatively higher prevalence of inadequate negotiation regarding condom use among H/La women. They hypothesize that sexual assertiveness may induce discomfort because the behavior is not conventionally associated with culturally traditional gender roles.

Protective Factors

Given these issues, identifying protective factors for H/La adolescents is critical for mitigating and addressing sexual health disparities. Protective factors, also known as resilience factors, are attributes that exist at the individual, family, or community level and function as dynamic mechanisms to decrease or avert the probability of involvement in risky sexual behaviors (Sharma et al., 2019). Several protective factors have been identified in prior research as being linked to reduced engagement in risky sexual behaviors among adolescents. Some of these factors include religious involvement, academic attendance, and school performance. With regard to religious involvement, Bachanans and colleagues (2002) found church participation exhibited a protective effect for older adolescents, as evidenced by a lower number of sexual partners. The same study also found that adolescent females who exhibited a higher frequency of attendance at religious services were more inclined to postpone their first sexual encounter, exhibit greater levels of self-efficacy in discussing topics such as STDs, HIV, and pregnancy prevention with their partners, and are more likely to decline unsafe sexual encounters (McCree 2003; Rostosky et al., 2004). Moreover, Poulson et al. (1998) found that women

with strong religious convictions are less likely to engage in risky sexual behavior than those with weaker religious convictions.

Education also serves as a protective factor against adverse sexual health outcomes. A literature review conducted by Mmari & Sabherwal (2013) on adolescent reproductive health identified a higher level of education as a protective factor across multiple adverse adolescent sexual and reproductive health outcomes. Additionally, teens who remain enrolled in school are comparatively less prone to engaging in early sexual activity and becoming pregnant in contrast to their peers who dropped out (Marham et al., 2010; Plourde et al., 2016; Talashek, Norr, & Dancy, 2003). Lastly, academic attendance and increased time spent on family activities have been shown to positively influence sexual health outcomes (Barnes et al., 2006).

The family unit plays a significant role in mitigating the likelihood of adolescents engaging in risky sexual behaviors. A review of positive youth development programs aiming to promote adolescent sexual health revealed that directing efforts toward young individuals and concurrently enhancing the familial environment led to better outcomes regarding adolescent sexual and reproductive health (Gavin et al., 2010). Conversely, the same review found that focusing solely on the youth did not yield the same positive results. Extensive research has demonstrated that the family unit is widely acknowledged as a safeguarding element exerting a significant impact on the sexual behavior of H/La adolescents and young adults (Chia-Chen Chen & Thompson, 2007; Garcia Saiz et al., 2021). It is important to note that various facets of the H/ La family structure appear to hold importance, namely connectedness, parenting style and parenting practices, and communication.

Connectedness (familismo). The first facet to consider is family connectedness, which encompasses parental warmth, support, parent-adolescent closeness, and child

attachment to parents (Miller, Benson & Galbraith, 2001). Numerous studies have demonstrated that strong bonds between a child and their caregivers is a crucial component in fostering positive development and preventing young people from potentially dangerous behaviors, such as sexual risk-taking (see Markham et al., 2010, for a systematic review). The majority of available evidence shows that familial connectedness can be a protective factor for early sexual initiation, frequency of intercourse, and pregnancy prevention (Miller, Benson & Galbraith, 2001; Perrino et al., 2000). Being active in their children's lives is vital to H/La parents due to the cultural value of familismo, which promotes strong family ties based on closeness and interconnectedness between immediate and extended family members (Deardorff, Tschann & Flores, 2008). Among the four dimensions of familismo, the dimension that exhibited the highest degree of consistency in predicting sexual risk behavior among girls was parental respect and authority. This dimension pertains to the notion that one must respect and accept family standards (Guilamo-Ramos et al., 2009). When results are considered collectively, they provide guidance for developing prevention programs that include familismo components that assist parents in raising their children's respect for parental authority and decision-making. For example, Familias Unidas, a parent-centered youth development program for Latinx youth that aims to improve families' capacity to support children, discovered that rather than focusing on particular health behaviors, strengthening the family system may be more effective in preventing and/or reducing drug use and unsafe sex among H/La adolescents (Prado, 2007).

Parenting Style and parenting practices. The next facet to consider pertains to parenting styles and practices, which have demonstrated an impact on adolescent sexual behaviors (Borawski et al., 2003). The extant body of literature offers diverse portrayals of Latinx parenting practices, with some research linking them to either authoritative or

authoritarian parenting styles (Hill, Bush, & Roosa, 2003). Studies found that parental attitudes that lean towards conservatism regarding sexual behavior, as well as the implementation and reinforcement of dating regulations, could potentially postpone the initiation of sexual activity (Hovell et al., 1994; Velez-Pastrana, Gonzádez-Rodríguez, & Borges-Hernandez, 2005). Additionally, parental monitoring, which refers to the supervision of adolescents' activities, was found to have a protective effect against the early onset of sexual intercourse (Boislard et al., 2009; Velez-Pastrana, Gonzádez-Rodríguez, & Borges-Hernandez, 2005), fewer sexual partners (Kerr et al., 2003; Miller, Forehand, & Kotchick, 1999) and better use of contraceptive methods (Borawski et al., 2003). Conversely, adolescents who spend more time unsupervised were at a higher risk of adverse health sexual outcomes (Barnes, 2007).

Communication. The last facet relates to parent-child communication. Parental warnings and discussions regarding sexual health topics have been found to be positively correlated with a reduction in instances of unprotected sexual activity (Flores & Barroso, 2017; Ritchwood et al., 2017). Although there is evidence to support a positive relationship between communication about sex and healthy sexual behavior among adolescents, it has been observed that Latino families engage in sexual communication less frequently than families from other racial and ethnic backgrounds (Hutchinson, 2002; Miller, Benson & Galbraith, 2001). The existing body of literature suggests that Latino parents acknowledge the importance of maintaining transparent communication; however, they encounter discomfort in actively participating in such dialogues (Martinez & Orpinas, 2016). Qualitative interviews examining H/La mother-daughter conversations about sex-related topics indicate that mothers recognize the significance of engaging in conversations regarding sexual health as a means of enabling their daughters to prioritize their educational goals, as well as the health-related repercussions associated with sexual

activity (McKee, & Karasz, 2006). Overall, communication is one of the most important and easily implemented parental facets to reduce adverse sexual health outcomes in H/La adolescents.

Overall, prior research demonstrates that parent-child communication is critical to healthy sexual behavior. It can create long-term protective behaviors for teens, leading to improved sexual health outcomes including increased use of contraception, fewer episodes of sexual intercourse and unprotected sexual encounters among adolescents (Flores & Barroso, 2017; Hutchinson et al., 2003). Quality parent-child communication can also help teens gain trust and improve their capacity to approach partners about their needs, thereby enhancing their relationship. Sexually active Latinx and African American teens who perceive their mothers as responsive when discussing sexuality and sexual risks are more likely to talk to their partners about contraception (including condoms) and STIs (including HIV) than those who perceive less positive affect (Driscoll et al., 2001). Further, teens with responsive mothers are more likely to use condoms at the time of their first sexual encounter and throughout their lives (Whitaker et al., 1999).

Mothers as Primary Educators

It should be noted most studies find the prevalence of parents discussing certain topics with their children is highest among same-gender dyads, and research has found that maternal figures are often the primary educators in sexual health matters (Flores & Barroso, 2017; Hutchinson, 2002; Romo et al., 2001). Given that H/La females often hold a pivotal role within their familial units (McKee, & Karasz, 2006), teens frequently report that their mothers are the individuals they strive to satisfy the most and with whom they experience the strongest emotional bond (Velez-Pastrana, Gonzádez-Rodríguez, & Borges-Hernandez, 2005). In addition, Wyckoff et al. (2008) found that mothers, in comparison to fathers, are more likely to engage in conversations regarding risk factors

and topics related to sexuality with their daughters rather than with their sons. The discrepancy might come from the belief that mothers are responsible for educating their daughters (Wright, 2009).

Dynamics of Communication

Enabling an environment that fosters open communication provides an avenue for parental guidance. Hutchinson and colleagues (2003) explained caregivers have the ability to customize communication to align with the cognitive and emotional maturity of their children, leverage opportune instances to impart knowledge, establish a framework of ethics surrounding sexual conduct, and act as a continuous resource for guidance and support. Moreover, parental guidance regarding sexual health can lead to increased responsible decision-making regarding sexual activity and favorable sexual health outcomes such as higher contraceptive self-efficacy (Guilamo-Ramos et al., 2011; Hutchinson, 2002; Lardier et al., 2019; Longmore et al., 2003). Regarding parent-child sexual communication, various dynamics of communication have been demonstrated to enhance sexual health outcomes including frequency/timing of conversations, content and parental tone of voice.

Frequency/ timing. In a 2017 article by Flores and Barroso, results indicate that discussions about sex and sexual health among parents and children are often triggered by developmental indicators such as bodily changes, fluctuating emotions, and the desire for autonomy. Adolescents who engage in more frequent and higher-quality communication with their parents about sexual topics are less likely to engage in risky sexual behaviors (Miller et al., 2001; Ritchwood et al., 2017; Sutton et al., 2014). Frequent parent-child communication about sex is uncommon, and when it does occur, it tends to be a one-time event or episodic in nature (Guilamo-Ramos et al., 2006). A recent qualitative study on H/La female students found that mothers who engaged in episodic

talks tended to maintain a consistent conversation style that did not align with their daughters' evolving thoughts and behaviors on the topic (Leyser-Whalen & Jenkins, 2022). The same qualitative study also suggested that parents should contemplate modifying their ongoing discussions about sexual and reproductive health to cater to their children's needs and current sexual history.

Content and Culture. The content of conversations is another crucial element in sexual communication. In general, parental discourse with their kids pertaining to sexual matters is often vague, advocates for abstinence, and emphasizes the negative consequences of sexual behavior (e.g., STDs, unintended pregnancy; Guilamo-Ramos et al., 2006). However, there are variations in the content of conversations between parents and teenagers based on their culture and gender. In H/La culture, conventional gender roles dictate that males are anticipated to exhibit strength and provide for their families, a construct known as "machismo." On the other hand, females are expected to display nurturing qualities and defer to the male head of household, a construct referred to as "marianismo" (Maas et al., 2022; Lefkowitz et al., 2014). These cultural expectations have an impact on sexual behaviors (Villar-Loubet et al., 2011). Collectively, the cultural constructs of machismo and marianismo contribute to the existence of a dual standard within Latin society. This standard promotes and reinforces the notion that men should exhibit sexual aggression and engage in active sexual behavior, while simultaneously minimizing women who display similar conduct (Pinos et al., 2016). Moreover,, sexual communication can be hindered bythe extent of a mother's sexual knowledge. Mothers may also be hesitant to participate in open conversations regarding sexual matters, as it can result in her being stigmatized as promiscuous or immoral (Villar-Loubet et al., 2011). Considering these social roles, mothers indicate that their conversations with their daughters center on puberty, the dangers and consequences of sexual activity, and the

feminine values of staying at home (McKee, & Karasz, 2006). In line with these findings, Romo and colleagues (2002) also found H/La mothers predominantly emphasized cautionary messages. However, their discussions also encompassed personal values and recommendations pertaining to appropriate behavior in particular circumstances. Overall, the available evidence shows that Latina mothers tend to emphasize the negative consequences of sexual activity (McKee, & Karasz, 2006); yet, even with the emphasis on the consequences, H/La teens use condoms or birth control pills at a lower rate than White and African-American teens (CDC, 2021b). In order to optimize sexual health outcomes, it is imperative to address the gender-based sexual double standard inherent in the values of machismo and marianismo and potential ambiguity in sexual health conversations, as these factors may significantly impact H/La adolescents.

Tone. Lastly, the tone in parental communication serves to augment the significance, purpose, and affective expression of the conveyed message to their children. Aronowitz & Agbeshie (2012) examined the impact of a parent's emotional tone on their daughters' willingness to engage in discussions about sex. They found that a negative emotional tone hindered such conversations; whereas, a positive tone facilitated them. Similarly, in a study conducted on the quality of parent-adolescent conversations regarding sex and sexual behavior, the researchers distinguished between teaching and lecturing. Rogers and colleagues (2015) found that teaching involved an educational or instructional approach, while lecturing had a condescending or derogatory tone. According to their findings, communicating the topics of dating and sex in a lecturing tone may increase the likelihood of adolescents engaging in sexual activity because they are less likely to assimilate messages about sexuality conveyed in a harsh/shameful tone. As a result, tone is a significant determinant in influencing adolescent sexual behavior.

Barriers to Sexual Communication in the Hispanic/Latin Community

Given the significance of effective communication, it is imperative to comprehend the obstacles that impede communication, particularly within the H/La community. Prior studies on parental communication regarding sexual health have identified various obstacles that hinder parents from engaging in productive discussions with their children. Common barriers found across parent's hesitancy to initiate conversations come from parenting style, knowledge about sexual health, perceptions that their child is not mature enough and perceptions that their child will be uncomfortable during the conversation (Coakley et al., 2017; Flores & Barroso, 2017; Pluhar, 2018). Within the H/La community, discussions about sexual topics are highly informed by culturally accepted norms and values. Murphy and colleagues (2011) discovered that parents' immigration, degree of acculturation, and family roles shaped communication about sex-related topics. Facilitating open sexual communication between parents and their children, especially among H/La parents whose culture emphasizes abstinence and minimizes discussions about sex (Villar-Loubet et al., 2011) could act as a catalyst for promoting safer sexual practices among adolescents.

The cultural norms surrounding discussions on sexuality are often a barrier to open communication regarding sexual health. H/La adolescents have expressed a desire for their mothers to initiate conversations regarding sex (Leyser-Whalen & Jenkins, 2022). However, previous research has indicated that certain parents may experience discomfort in acknowledging their adolescents' evolving sexual behavior, resulting in less reciprocal discussions about sexual topics. Parents with such characteristics may display a proclivity towards deliberately controlling and restricting the sexual activity of their teens upon gaining knowledge of it (Rogers et al., 2015). This may prompt Latinx adolescents to seek sex education and associated services elsewhere that is easily

accessible and without parental interference (Aarons and Jenkins, 2002; Lee, Flores & Holm, 2013).

The discussion of sex-related topics often elicits anxiety and apprehension among parents and their children, resulting in avoidance of such conversations. Leyser-Whalen and Jenkins (2022) have elucidated that certain mothers belonging to the H/La community refrain from engaging in sexual and reproductive health discussions with their daughters due to concerns that such conversations may inadvertently promote sexual activity among adolescents. Furthermore, Ashcraft and Murray (2017) have identified common themes that contribute to parental anxiety during conversations surrounding sexual health. Based on their findings, parents experience a range of concerns regarding the discussion of sex education with their children. These may include fear surrounding potential gaps in their knowledge, fear of divulging too much information, apprehension regarding challenging questions, worries regarding discovering previously unknown information about their child, concern regarding their teen's response or perception, and a general sense of discomfort surrounding the topic. Therefore, it appears that engaging in these discussions is necessary for H/La mothers yet they might refrain from doing so due to the reasons previously mentioned.

Psychosocial Variables Associated with Lack of Sexual Communication

The cognitive processes involved in communication may be influenced by parents' own beliefs and attitudes (Jaccard, Dodge & Dittus, 2002; Murphy et al., 2011). In the context of interpersonal communication, parents often possess a predetermined set of cognitions or affective states that impact parent-self efficacy (parent's own confidence) and parent outcome expectancy (parent's expectations about how the conversation with their child will go). In order for parental conversations to effectively connect with adolescents, it is crucial to identify the characteristics influencing mothers'

perceived confidence that they can have sex-related conversations and emotions/ thoughts related to these discussions.

Attachment Theory

One avenue for understanding communication processes is analyzing dimensions associated with parental attachment style. Attachment theory is a widely recognized conceptual framework employed to comprehend interpersonal relationships. The development of attachments is influenced by early interactions with caregivers and subsequently impacts an individual's expectations of future interpersonal relationships (Bowlby, 1969; Cooper, Shaver & Collins, 1998). The most commonly identifiable dimensions of attachment are anxiety, avoidance, or both (Hazan & Shaver, 1994).

Findings indicate that dimensions of attachment impact various aspects of parenting behavior such as the parent's ability to respond to stressful situations (Edelstein et al., 2004), level of support during parent-child conflicts (Feeney, 2006), and choice of parenting style (Doinita & Maria, 2015). Further investigation on dimensions of attachment indicate the potential influence on communication patterns. Several research studies have demonstrated that individuals with insecure attachments tend to utilize fewer effective methods of communication, specifically regarding communication about sex.

McNeil, Rehman, and Fallis (2018) found avoidant attachment to be associated with more negative communication between an individual and their romantic partner.

Similarly, Khoury and Findlay (2014) also found individuals with avoidant attachments exhibited lower levels of comfort with communicating their sexual needs/ boundaries, which in turn, resulted in a lower level of sexual satisfaction. On the other hand, positive correlations between secure attachment style and healthy communication led to increased use of birth control and higher physical/sexual satisfaction, indicating that individuals with secure attachment engaged in more effective sex-related communication resulting in

favorable outcomes (Barnes et al., 2017). Research findings on the communication styles of insecurely attached individuals focus mostly on sexual communication between adult intimate/ romantic partners. This leaves a significant gap in the literature regarding how attachment style affects parent-child communication and parental anxiety about engaging in sex-related conversations with their children.

Dimensions of attachment in relation to a mother's propensity to engage in discussions regarding sexual health, particularly among H/La mothers, has been largely unexplored. Considering the association between dimensions of attachment styles and communication patterns, it seems feasible that these dimensions (anxiety and avoidance) could influence the cognitive or affective states that mothers experience before engaging in conversations related to sexual health.

Overview of the Current Study

The purpose of this study is to explore the internal processes that influence mothers' conversations with their daughters about sexual health issues in a particularly susceptible demographic, H/ La in the United States. It is anticipated that attachment dimensions (anxiety and avoidance) will impact a mother's confidence in their ability to talk to their daughters and expectations about outcomes associated with having those conversations. Mothers scoring high on the dimension of attachment anxiety will be more likely to encounter reduced self-efficacy and perceive themselves as less capable of having constructive forms of sexual health communication with their daughters.

Conversely, mothers scoring high on the dimension of attachment avoidance will report lower positive cognitive expectancies (i.e., thinking they are a responsible parent) related to discussions about sex-related topics and have lower positive emotions (e.g., feeling pleased they had those conversations) related to parent-adolescent discussions about sex-related topics. Overall, this research aims to offer information that assists in better

understanding parental characteristics to aid in consequently enhancing H/La youths' present and future sexual health outcomes.

CHAPTER II:

METHODOLOGY

Participants

Participants were recruited through a digital flyer posted on social media (e.g., Instagram, Facebook, Twitter, parenting forums) and a "snowball" emailing method, asking potential participants to complete the survey and email the research opportunity to their contacts. Mothers were invited to complete a survey regarding their experiences in discussing sexual and reproductive health information with their daughter(s). Respondents were eligible to participate if they reported being Hispanic/Latina mothers (≥18 years of age) who had one or more daughter(s) ages 10-26 years old, spoke English and/or Spanish and reported currently residing in the U.S. or a U.S. territory. The rationale behind the selection of mothers with daughters in this age group was made to capture those whose daughters were nearing the pre-adolescent stage. The age cut-off was chosen to account for cultural norms that dictate the timing of Latina youth's departure from their parental home (Vos, 1989; Gillespie, Bostean & Malizia 2020; Lei & South, 2016). Research has shown that parents often postpone conversations about sex because they don't want to make their child feel uncomfortable or embarrassed (Guilamo-Ramos, et al., 2008). When children choose to delay leaving their parental home, parents may feel inclined to postpone having conversations with them until they feel their children are more mature. This is why the present study assessed mother's inclination to initiate discussions pertaining to sexual health with daughters aged between 10 and 26 years-old.

The initial sample included 130 adult respondents. However, several respondents' data were removed, due to problematic responding (e.g., The mother was 18, but

reporting having a 14-year-old daughter). Thus, the final sample consisted of 79 mothers. Descriptive statistics for demographic study variables are reported in *Table 1*.

Procedure

Data was collected between April 2022 and June 2023. The lead investigator designed a web-based survey using Qualtrics, and an undergraduate research team pilottested the final survey to ensure its accuracy and functionality. In order to counteract the potential of low English proficiency and/or restricted reading abilities, a Spanish translation of all materials was available to participants. To ensure adequate translation, materials were translated using a machine learning translation software (DeepL Translate) and reviewed by the native speaking author and faculty.

Mothers were invited to complete a survey regarding their experiences in discussing sexual and reproductive health information with their daughter(s). Those who wished to participate and/or learn more could scan the QR code provided on the digital flyer. When participants scanned the QR, a webpage directing them to our study survey would appear on their screen. Individuals were first prompted to select if they wished to proceed in English or Spanish. After selecting a preferred language, participants were taken to an information page outlining information about the study, what to expect if they wished to proceed, and contact information if they had questions or concerns.

Additionally, to mitigate the influence that immigration fears could have on potential participants, a statement was made available to ensure data confidentiality and privacy regardless of immigration status.

Potential participants were directed to the consent form by clicking an arrow located at the bottom right corner of the information page. After reading the consent form, they were asked to click on a button acknowledging that they understood what they were consenting to and that they agreed to participate. Those who did not agree to

participate could click on the "I do not agree" button which would bring them to an exit page on the website instead of proceeding to the questionnaire.

After completing the informed consent, participants completed preliminary items to determine if they met the inclusion criteria. Next, participants responded to the survey questions (see full survey in *Supplementary Material*). After completing the survey questions, participants were asked whether they would like to provide an email address to be entered into a raffle for the chance to win a \$100 gift card. A participant choosing to provide an email address would select "yes" and would be automatically redirected to a separate survey. This process would maintain confidentiality and separate the reward distribution process from the main survey responses.

Measures

Demographics. Mothers were asked to report their gender, age, country of origin, primary language spoken at home, current state residency, educational level, marital status, employment, and household income.

Experiences in Close Relationships-Revised (ECR-R). The ECR-R is a 36item scales that evaluates individuals on two dimensions of attachment: *avoidance* and *anxiety* (Fraley et al., 2000). Respondents were asked to answer questions based on how
they *generally* experience relationships, not just what is happening in a current
relationship. Responses are on a Likert scale and range from "1" (*strongly disagree*) to
"7" (*strongly agree*). The first 18 items comprise the attachment-related anxiety scale
(e.g., "I am nervous when partners get too close to me"). Items 19 – 36 comprise the
attachment-related avoidance scale (e.g., "My desire to be very close sometimes scares
people away"). The mean of an individual's responses to items 1-18 determines
attachment-related anxiety, whereas the mean of questions 19-36 determines attachmentrelated avoidance. This measure has been shown to be reliable and provides one of, if not

the, most appropriate self-report measure of adult romantic attachment currently available (Sibley et al., 2005). A Spanish adaptation of the Experiences in Close Relationships (ECR) measure of the 2 dimensions of adult attachment (Brennan, Clark, & Shaver, 1998) was created using a back-translation procedure. For the study, the order in which these items were presented was randomized.

Parent Self-Efficacy Scale. A 17-item measure assessing parents' confidence in their ability to talk to their children about sexuality issues (Dilorio et al., 2001). Each item is worded positively on a seven-point Likert scale and ranges from "1" (not at all) to "7" (completely sure). The midpoint of the scale is defined as moderately sure. Each item begins with the stem, "I can always explain to my daughter..." (including items; e.g., "what is happening when a girl has her period", "how someone can get AIDS if they don't use a condom", and "where to buy or get birth control pills"). Total scores are found by summing responses to individual items ranging from 16-112 with higher scores corresponding to a higher degree of self-efficacy to discuss sex-related issues. Cronbach's alpha computed to assess the internal consistency reliability of the self-efficacy scale was α = 0.85 indicating an acceptable level of internal consistency among the items. This measure is not available in Spanish. Thus, the measure was translated for the current study. To ensure adequate translation, this measure was translated using a machine learning translation software (DeepL Translate) and reviewed by the native-speaking author and faculty.

Parenting Outcome Expectancy Scale. A 15-item measure assessing parents' expectations about the outcomes associated with talking with their children about sexrelated topics (Dilorio et al., 2001). Fifteen of the 23 items are positively worded while 8 are negatively worded. Each item is rated on a five-point Likert scale ranging from "1" *strongly disagree* to "5" *strongly agree*. Each item begins with the stem "If I talk with

[my daughter about sex topics..." (including items; e.g., "I will feel proud", "I will be uncomfortable during my discussion", and "I feel like a responsible parent"). Cronbach's alpha computed to assess the internal consistency reliability of the outcome expectancy scale was α = 0.83 indicating an acceptable level of internal consistency among the items. This measure is not available in Spanish. Thus, the measure was translated for the current study. To ensure adequate translation, this measure was translated using a machine learning translation software (DeepL Translate) and reviewed by the native-speaking author and faculty.

Data Analysis

Descriptive analysis was employed to assess the characteristics of the sample and to present the frequency of the mean data pertaining to participants' demographic information. A linear regression model was used to assess mother's self-efficacy, positive cognitive expectancies and positive emotion expectancies. An alpha level of 0.05 was used to judge the statistical significance of all effects. Independent variables tested in the initial model for having a non-exclusive relationship were age, U.S. born status, language spoken at home and education. A backward elimination strategy of insignificant independent variables was followed until only statistically significant predictors remained. All analyses were conducted using STATA 17/SE (StataCorp, 2017).

Power Analysis

Power analyses were conducted using G*Power Version 3.1.9.2 to determine sufficient sample size. An effect size of 0.15 was used, based on Timm & Keiley's (2011) work on adult attachment and sexual communication in marital relationships, which yielded an r=0.36. Power analyses with those values indicated that a sample of 107 was needed to achieve a power of 0.95. Because the referenced research did not specifically assess parental attachment and sexual communication, the current study planned to

recruit 214 participants. Recruitment concluded with a final sample of 130 mothers due to time constraints.

CHAPTER III:

RESULTS

Demographics

Table 1 presents the descriptive statistics of the participants, including the frequency and percentage of responses to the demographic questions. The mean age was 37 years-old (SD=7.00).

Relationships between Outcome Variables, Demographics and Standardized Measures

U.S.-born status was significant for self-efficacy (t(78) = -3.65, p = 0.005). U.S.-born mothers scored higher in self-efficacy (M=5.05, SD=1.12) compared to non-US-born mothers (M=3.95, SD=1.31). U.S. born mothers report higher positive cognitive expectancies (M=3.27, SD=0.45) compared to non-U.S. born mothers (M=2.68, SD=0.77). US-born status was also significant for positive cognitive expectancies (t(77)=-3.60, p<.0010). U.S.-born status was not significant for positive emotions expectancies. Language spoken at home was not significant for any outcome variables. Further, Education was not significant for any of the outcome variables. The correlations for all measures and age are presented in *Table 2*.

Linear Regression Main Outcomes

In the self-efficacy model, there were 4 significant variables that were used in the model including dimension of attachment anxiety, dimension of attachment avoidance, age, and US-born status. Of these 4 variables only one was significant in the model. The avoidant dimension of attachment was negatively associated with self-efficacy (b= -0.861, t= -3.56, p <0.001).

In the positive cognitive expectancies model, there were 4 significant variables that were used in the model including dimension of attachment anxiety, dimension of

attachment avoidance, age, and US-born status. Of these 4 variables only one was significant in the model. The anxious dimension of attachment was negatively associated with positive cognitive expectancies (b = -0.210, t = -2.09, p < 0.040).

In the positive emotion expectancies model, there were 3 significant variables that were used in the model including dimension of attachment anxiety, dimension of attachment avoidance and age. The anxious dimension of attachment was negatively associated with positive emotions expectancies (b= -0.343, t= -3.93, p <0.001). All findings are reported in *Table 3*.

Table 1Descriptive Statistics for Mother Participants

Characteristic	N (%)
Survey's Language	
Inglés/ English	69 (87.34%)
Español/ Spanish	10 (12.66%)
Place of Birth	
Outside of the U.S.	53 (67.09%)
U.S.	26 (32.91%)
Place of Birth	
North America	33 (41.25%)
South America	22 (27.50%)
Central America	11 (13.75%)
Caribbean	9 (11.25%)
Africa	1 (1.25%)
Europe	1 (1.25%)
Language spoken at home	
Spanish	19 (24.05%)
English	60 (75.95%)
Education	
Up to High School	11 (13.92%)
Any Education after High School	65 (82.28%)
Prefer not to say	3 (3.80%)
Tioler not to say	5 (5.0070)
Household Income	
Under \$100k	56 (70.87%)
Above \$100k	23 (29.11%)

Table 2Pearson Correlation

	1	2	3	4	5	6
(1) Self-Efficacy	-					
(2) Positive Cognitive Expectancies	0.70***	-				
(3) Positive Emotions Expectancies	0.48***	0.54***	-			
(4) Dimension of attachment anxiety	0.39***	-0.43***	-0.56***	-		
(5) Dimension of attachment avoidance	- 0.57***	-0.42***	-0.22	0.45***	-	
(6) Age	0.24*	0.1	0.30**	0.37***	-0.13	-

Note. *p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001

 Table 3

 Regression Analysis for Mother's Confidence and Outcomes Associated with Sexual Health Conversations

	Self-Efficacy			Positive Cognitive Expectancies				Positive Emotions Expectancies				
	b	SE	t	p	Ь	SE	t	p	b	SE	t	p
Dimension of attachment anxiety	-0.123	0.130	-0.95	0.344	-0.210	0.100	-2.09	0.040	-0.343	0.087	-3.93	<.001
Dimension of attachment avoidance	-0.861	0.242	-3.56	0.001	-0.205	0.123	-1.67	0.098	0.036	0.123	0.29	0.770
Age	0.026	0.023	1.16	0.250	-0.007	0.015	-0.45	0.651	0.011	0.013	0.85	0.398
U.S. Born	0.078	0.335	0.23	0.817	0.174	0.167	1.04	0.303	-	-	-	-
Intercept	5.626	1.086	5.18	<.001	3.993	0.704	5.67	<.001	2.687	0.621	4.33	<.001

CHAPTER IV:

DISCUSSION

Overall, the current study examined the effects the dimensions of attachment on various outcomes associated with having these conversations between mother and daughter. We examined the effects of demographics, dimension of attachment (anxiety and avoidance) on three outcomes (self-efficacy, positive cognitive expectancies and positive emotion expectancies).

Regarding self-efficacy, the findings of the present study indicates that mothers scoring high on the dimension of attachment avoidance, experience lower levels of self-efficacy when they think of engaging in discussions about sex-related topics with their daughters. It should be noted that having higher attachment-anxiety was not associated with their self-efficacy. The absence of confidence in mothers may be associated with their concern of appearing overly assertive in initiating conversations, a lack in trust within the mother-daughter relationship, and elevated levels of interpersonal conflict within the mother-daughter dyad, which has been supported by the research. Several studies have found establishing an interpersonal setting characterized by maternal *confianza* (to have trust, or to have confidence) is associated with the facilitation of effective sexual health communication (McKee, & Karasz, 2006; Romo et al., 2002; Romo et al., 2010). However, given the apparent lack of readiness and perceived inability of mothers exhibiting high levels of attachment avoidance to partake in these discussions, it becomes imperative to enhance their confidence in conducting such conversations.

Further, it has been indicated that there is no association between higher levels of attachment anxiety and self-efficacy.

Consequently, this can enhance the level of trust and *confianza* between them. Given that avoidance is about the lack of self-efficacy, it is important to assess the existing interpersonal relationship and communication patterns with their daughters to gain a comprehensive understanding of potential areas for improving the mother-daughter relationship and communication skills. Increasing *confianza* and possessing adequate communication skills may enhance maternal confidence and competence, thus increasing their self-efficacy and facilitating conversations, as the absence of meaningful conversations contributes to daughters' inadequate understanding of their sexual health, thereby leading to unfavorable outcomes in their sexual health.

Regarding positive cognitive expectancies, the current study found that mothers scoring high on the dimension of attachment anxiety had lower positive cognitive expectancies when it came to engaging in conversations about sex-related topics. Again, it should be noted that there was no significant relationship found between mothers' avoidance related to attachment and positive cognitive expectancies. This pattern could potentially be attributed to an anxiously attached individual's inclination to internalize negative beliefs and anticipate unfavorable outcomes, which is consistent with previous research findings. Cognitive research examining the association between individuals' attachment dimension and their beliefs reveals a moderate correlation between negative self-evaluative core beliefs and anxiety related to attachment (Wearden et al., 2008). Moreover, parental sexual communication with their children can be influenced by both positive and negative expectancies held by parents and have been found to be significant predictors of parent-child sexual communication (Astle, McAllister & Pariera, 2022; Dilorio et al., 2000).

No association was found between higher levels of attachment avoidance and positive cognitive expectancies.

Based on these findings, a prospective approach to assisting mothers in addressing their negative self-evaluations regarding their maternal responsibility could involve fostering self-awareness. By facilitating mothers' awareness of cognitive patterns, analyzing the origins of their negative self-talk, and encouraging them to contemplate the potential positive effects of initiating discussions on sexual health with their daughters, it is possible to improve sexual health-related outcomes.

With regard to positive emotion expectancies, the results indicate that mothers who self-reported having high anxiety related to attachment exhibited lower positive emotion expectancies when it came to engaging in conversations about sex-related topics. The emotional component pertains to emotional discomfort or difficulty with discussing sex-related topics. This might indicate that mothers that reported high anxiety related to attachment were less likely to feel comfortable and more likely to experience feeling embarrassed or ashamed. Guilamo-Ramos and colleagues (2007) found how positive emotion expectancies, such as experiencing calmness or feeling optimistic, along with negative emotion expectancies, such as feelings of nervousness or shame, can serve as predictors of parent-child sexual communication. It is plausible that mothers exhibiting elevated levels of attachment-related anxiety may experience heightened nervousness and shame from the concern that engaging in conversations of this nature with their daughters could potentially jeopardize the existing relationship. Given their attachment needs, such apprehension may be incongruent with their underlying motivation to foster intimacy and maintain a strong bond with their daughters. No significant relationship was observed between mother's avoidance related to attachment and positive emotion expectancies. A plausible interpretation for this outcome is that mothers who display attachment-related avoidance may opt not to actively foster close connections with their daughters and may deliberately avoid reflecting upon their emotions and expectations regarding sexual health conversations.

Given that mothers with high anxiety related to attachment expect fewer positive emotions from sexual health conversations, it is important to talk about anticipatory negative emotions that might arise in these conversations (e.g., you will find some things difficult to talk about, you will experience discomfort, it might be unpleasant). Moreover, it is important to underscore that engaging in these discussions will not lead to rejection or alienation from the existing relationship they have with their daughter. On the contrary, such conversations have the potential to foster greater emotional intimacy. Imparting knowledge to mothers about the significance of facilitating open dialogues and preparing them for potential negative emotions can potentially mitigate adverse sexual health outcomes for their daughters.

Limitations

Although this study provided important new insights into our understanding of H/La mother-daughter communication about sexual health, it is not without its limitations. The inclusion of marginalized populations in health research holds significant importance due to its potential to yield valuable insights that could facilitate the development of more efficacious and culturally sensitive treatment and interventions. According to the study conducted by Wendler et al. (2005), there is a disparity in the recruitment rates of minority groups in research studies when compared to non-Hispanic White participants. H/La individuals in particular encounter additional obstacles in their participation due to linguistic challenges and apprehensions regarding their undocumented immigration status (García, Zuñiga & Lagon, 2016). In our study, efforts were made to address the aforementioned obstacles by offering comprehensive translation for all the study materials and ensuring the confidentiality of participants' information, including their immigration status. However, recruiting eligible mothers proved to be a challenging task. Considering that digital flyers were utilized as the

principal means of recruitment, it is plausible that this form of indirect recruitment may have dissuaded prospective eligible mothers from participating in the study due to potential difficulties they might have encountered, such as requiring assistance or having additional questions about enrolling in the study. Additional investigation is warranted with individuals who have willingly opted to participate in the research, as it holds the promise of generating valuable insights when working with this population. Had it not been for these constraints and had our recruitment strategies been more effective, a larger sample size may have been achieved. Therefore, it is imperative to exercise caution when interpreting and generalizing the results, given the limited power and small sample size.

Next, the self-efficacy and outcome expectancy scales developed by Dilorio et al. (2001) are among the limited number of measurement tools utilized in the examination of factors related to parent-adolescent discussions regarding sexual health. The psychometric properties of the scale were derived from a predominantly African American sample of mothers. However, the current sample consisted of H/La mothers. Consequently, certain cultural values and assumptions may not have been adequately represented in the items presented to mothers. Hence, knowledge can be missing regarding the beliefs and expectations of H/La mothers in relation to their anticipated conversational experiences. The degree of potential differences in outcomes remains uncertain within the confines of this limitation; however, it is crucial to acknowledge the necessity for further investigation in order to ascertain the adequacy of contextualization or comparison to this particular population. In addition, the authors of the measure emphasized the importance of including ethnically diverse participants in order to evaluate the efficacy of the scale in accurately measuring the experiences of parents belonging to different racial and ethnic groups (Dilorio et al., 2001).

Lastly, the current study employed the Experiences in Close Relationships Scale (ECR-R). Fraley and colleagues (2000) draw the conclusion that the most effective approach to assessing and understanding adult attachment is through the use of dimensions rather than treating it as a categorical variable. Taking this into consideration, our study employed this methodology for evaluating attachment. It is important to note that the scale utilized in our research is specifically designed to measure adult attachment within the context of romantic relationships. The lack of available self-report instruments designed to evaluate adult attachment patterns across diverse close relationships posed a limitation in our study, as it hindered our ability to adequately assess parent-child attachment. Including a validated self-report measure for parental attachment in future investigations could allow for a more comprehensive understanding of the influence of attachment and other parent-related variables, such as caregiving patterns, sensitivity, and responsiveness, on the conversational abilities of H/La mothers with their daughters. Overall, despite the advancements achieved in the development of more effective assessment tools for evaluating attachment, there remains a persistent demand for further enhancement of self-report measures pertaining to adult attachment.

To overcome these limitations and expand upon the present study, future researchers may utilize H/La cultural values to inform and improve recruitment efforts. Previous research has suggested utilizing in-person methods as opposed to indirect approaches such as emails or flyers (García, Zuñiga & Lagon, 2016). Moreover, future studies could conduct interviews that can be employed in conjunction with the administration of psychological survey measures. Incorporating qualitative research can build a foundation of cultural competence among researchers, enabling them to acquire a deeper understanding and enhanced knowledge, for an understudied population. This may subsequently result in the emergence of parenting interventions that enhance the self-

assurance of H/La mothers. The findings from the current study can personalize sexual health communication interventions for H/La mothers and daughters. For example, H/La mothers who report having high avoidance related to attachment may need interventions that improve their confidence to have sexual health conversations with their daughters. H/La Mothers who report having high anxiety related to attachment may benefit more from interventions that focus on what to expect from sexual health conversations.

In conclusion, attachment dimensions can affect a mother's confidence and expectations about outcomes when having conversations about sexual health with their daughters. It is important for those who work with H/La mothers to encourage them to believe in their own ability to have difficult conversations, to help them feel like they are capable parents, and to help them accept the reality that they will experience some discomfort when discussing sensitive topics, but that doing so will be worthwhile for the future well-being of their children. If mothers were to assume a more proactive role in engaging in discussions about sexual and reproductive health, it is possible that H/La adolescents and young adults could enhance their ability to adopt safer sexual practices, thereby resulting in improved sexual health outcomes.

REFERENCES

- Aarons, S. J., & Jenkins, R. R. (2002). Sex, pregnancy, and contraception-related motivators and barriers among latino and african-american youth in Washington, DC. *Sex Education*, 2(1), 5–30. https://doi.org/10.1080/14681810220133596
- Abma, J. C., Martinez, G. M., Mosher, W. D., & Dawson, B. (2004). *Teenagers in the United States: Sexual activity, contraceptive use, and childbearing, 2002*. https://doi.org/10.1037/e609162007-001
- ACS American Cancer Society. (2023). *Cancer Facts & Figures*. Atlanta: American cancer society. https://www.cancer.org/content/dam/cancer-org/research/cancer-facts-and-figures.pdf
- Astle, S., McAllister, P., & Pariera, K. (2022). Self of the parent: An expanded social cognitive perspective on parent–child sexual communication. *Journal of Family Theory & Review*. https://doi.org/10.1111/jftr.12452
- Aronowitz, T., & Agbeshie, E. (2012). Nature of communication: Voices of 11–14 year old african-american girls and their mothers in regard to talking about sex. *Issues in Comprehensive Pediatric Nursing*, 35(2), 75–89.

 https://doi.org/10.3109/01460862.2012.678260
- Bachanas, P. J. (2002). Psychological adjustment, substance use, HIV knowledge, and risky sexual behavior in at-risk minority females: Developmental differences during adolescence. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 27(4), 373–384.

 https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/27.4.373

- Badolato, G. M., Sadeghi, N., & Goyal, M. K. (2021). Racial and ethnic disparities in receipt of sexual health care and education among a nationally representative sample of adolescent females. *Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities*.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-021-01079-4
- Barnes, A., Dodson, M., Wood, B., Thomas, H., & Kimberly, C. (2017). The effect of attachment styles on positive communication and sexual satisfaction in relationships.

 *Journal of Positive Sexuality, 3(2), 27-31.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0165025408098036

- Barnes, G. M., Hoffman, J. H., Welte, J. W., Farrell, M. P., & Dintcheff, B. A. (2006).

 Adolescents' time use: Effects on substance use, delinquency and sexual activity. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *36*(5), 697–710. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-006-9075-0
- Bearak, J., Popinchalk, A., Ganatra, B., Moller, A.-B., Tunçalp, Ö., Beavin, C., Kwok, L., & Alkema, L. (2020). Unintended pregnancy and abortion by income, region, and the legal status of abortion: estimates from a comprehensive model for 1990–2019. *The Lancet Global Health*, 8(9). https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(20)30315-6
- Bender, A., & Ingram, R. (2018). Connecting attachment style to resilience: Contributions of self-care and self-efficacy. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 130, 18–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2018.03.038
- Boislard P, M. A., Poulin, F., Kiesner, J., & Dishion, T. J. (2009). A longitudinal examination of risky sexual behaviors among Canadian and Italian adolescents: Considering individual, parental, and friend characteristics. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 33(3), 265–276.

- Borawski, E. A., Ievers-Landis, C. E., Lovegreen, L. D., & Trapl, E. S. (2003). Parental monitoring, negotiated unsupervised time, and parental trust: the role of perceived parenting practices in adolescent health risk behaviors. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 33(2), 60–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1054-139x(03)00100-9
- Bowlby, J. (1969). Attachment and Loss: Attachment.
- Braveman, P., & Barclay, C. (2009). Health disparities beginning in childhood: A life-course perspective. *Pediatrics*, *124*(Supplement 3), S163–S175. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2009-1100d
- Brennan, K. A., Clark, C. L., & Shaver, P. R. (1998). Self-report measurement of adult attachment: An integrative overview. In J. A. Simpson & W. S. Rholes (Eds.), *Attachment theory and close relationships* (pp. 46–76). The Guilford Press.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2021a). *Diagnoses of HIV infection in the United States and dependent areas*. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/library/reports/hiv-surveillance/vol-34/index.html
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2018). *Health disparities in HIV, Viral hepatitis,*STDs, and TB. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

 https://www.cdc.gov/nchhstp/healthdisparities/hispanics.html

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (2013). Vital signs: Repeat births among teens United States, 2007-2010. *MMWR. Morbidity and mortality weekly report*, 62(13), 249–255.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2021b). *Youth Risk Behavior Survey Data* Atlanta,

 GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human

 Services. https://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/data/yrbs/yrbs_data_summary_and_trends.ht

 m
- Chia-Chen Chen, A., & Thompson, E. A. (2007). Family-centered care. *Journal for Specialists* in *Pediatric Nursing*, 12(2), 119–122. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6155.2007.00101.x
- Chawla, N., & Sarkar, S. (2019). Defining "high-risk sexual behavior" in the Context of Substance Use. *Journal of Psychosexual Health*, *1*(1), 26–31. https://doi.org/10.1177/2631831818822015
- Coakley, T. M., Randolph, S., Shears, J., Beamon, E. R., Collins, P., & Sides, T. (2017). Parent—youth communication to reduce at-risk sexual behavior: A systematic literature review.

 Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment, 27(6), 609–624.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10911359.2017.1313149
- Cooper, M. L., Shaver, P. R., & Collins, N. L. (1998). Attachment styles, emotion regulation, and adjustment in adolescence. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 74(5), 1380–1397. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.74.5.1380

- Council, R., Hofferth, S. L., & Hayes, C. D. (2016). Adolescent sexual behavior as it relates to other transition behaviors in youth. Nih.gov; National Academies Press (US). https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK219218/
- Deardorff, J., Tschann, J. M., & Flores, E. (2008). Sexual values among Latino youth:

 Measurement development using a culturally based approach. *Cultural Diversity* & *Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 14(2), 138–146. https://doi.org/10.1037/1099-9809.14.2.138
- DiIorio, C., Dudley, W. N., Wang, D. T., Wasserman, J., Eichler, M., Belcher, L., & West-Edwards, C. (2001). Measurement of parenting self-efficacy and outcome expectancy related to discussions about sex. *Journal of Nursing Measurement*, 9(2), 135–149. https://doi.org/10.1891/1061-3749.9.2.135
- DiIorio, C., Resnicow, K., Dudley, W. N., Thomas, S., Terry Wang, D., Van Marter, D. F., Manteuffel, B., & Lipana, J. (2000). Social cognitive factors associated with mother-adolescent communication about sex. *Journal of Health Communication*, 5(1), 41–51. https://doi.org/10.1080/108107300126740
- Doinita, N. E., & Maria, N. D. (2015). Attachment and parenting styles. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 203, 199-204.
- Driscoll, A. K., Biggs, M. A., Brindis, C. D., & Yankah, E. (2001). Adolescent Latino reproductive health: A review of the literature. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 23(3), 255–326. https://doi.org/10.1177/0739986301233001
- Ecer, E. (2022). Attachment-related anxiety and religiosity as predictors of generalized self-efficacy and dispositional hope. *Psychology in Russia: State of the Art*, 15(4), 21–37. https://doi.org/10.11621/pir.2022.0302

- Edelstein, R. S., Alexander, K. W., Shaver, P. R., Schaaf, J. M., Quas, J. A., Lovas, G. S., & Goodman, G. S. (2004). Adult attachment style and parental responsiveness during a stressful event. *Attachment & Human Development*, 6(1), 31–52. https://doi.org/10.1080/146167303100001659584
- Feeney, J. A. (2006). Parental attachment and conflict behavior: Implications for offspring's attachment, loneliness, and relationship satisfaction. *Personal Relationships*, *13*(1), 19–36. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6811.2006.00102.x
- Flores, D., & Barroso, J. (2017). 21st Century parent—child sex communication in the United States: A process review. *The Journal of Sex Research*, *54*(4-5), 532–548. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224499.2016.1267693
- Fraley, R. C., Waller, N. G., & Brennan, K. A. (2000). An item response theory analysis of self-report measures of adult attachment. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 78(2), 350–365. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-3514.78.2.350
- Garcia Saiz, E., Sarda, V., Pletta, D. R., Reisner, S. L., & Katz-Wise, S. L. (2021). Family functioning as a protective factor for sexual risk behaviors among gender minority adolescents. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-021-02079-5
- García, A. A., Zuñiga, J. A., & Lagon, C. (2016). A personal touch: The most important strategy for recruiting Latino research participants. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, 28(4), 342–347. https://doi.org/10.1177/1043659616644958
- Gavin, L. E., Catalano, R. F., David-Ferdon, C., Gloppen, K. M., & Markham, C. M. (2010). A review of positive youth development programs that promote adolescent sexual and

- reproductive health. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 46(3), S75–S91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2009.11.215
- Gillespie, B. J., Bostean, G., & Malizia, S. (2020). Timing of departure from the parental home: differences by immigrant generation and parents' region of origin. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 42(2), 165–190. https://doi.org/10.1177/0739986320916424
- Guilamo-Ramos, V., Dittus, P., Jaccard, J., Goldberg, V., Casillas, E., & Bouris, A. (2006). The content and process of mother-adolescent communication about sex in Latino families.

 Social Work Research, 30(3), 169–181. https://doi.org/10.1093/swr/30.3.169
- Guilamo-Ramos, V., Jaccard, J., Dittus, P., Bouris, A., Holloway, I., & Casillas, E. (2007).

 Adolescent expectancies, parent-adolescent communication and intentions to have sexual intercourse among inner-city, middle school youth. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 34(1), 56–66. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf02879921
- Guilamo-Ramos, V., Jaccard, J., Dittus, P., & Collins, S. (2008). Parent-adolescent communication about sexual intercourse: an analysis of maternal reluctance to communicate. *Health Psychology: Official Journal of the Division of Health Psychology, American Psychological Association*, 27(6), 760–769. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0013833
- Guilamo-Ramos, V., Bouris, A., Jaccard, J., Lesesne, C., & Ballan, M. (2009). Familial and cultural influences on sexual risk behaviors among Mexican, Puerto Rican, and Dominican youth. *AIDS Education and Prevention*, 21(supplement b), 61–79. https://doi.org/10.1521/aeap.2009.21.5_supp.61
- Guilamo-Ramos, V., Jaccard, J., Dittus, P., Bouris, A., Gonzalez, B., Casillas, E., & Banspach, S. (2011). A comparative study of interventions for delaying the initiation of sexual

- intercourse among Latino and Black youth. *Perspectives on Sexual and Reproductive Health*, 43(4), 247–254. https://doi.org/10.1363/4324711
- Hamilton, B., Martin, J., & Osterman, M. (2022). *Vital statistics rapid release births: Provisional data for 2021*. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/vsrr/vsrr020.pdf
- Hazan, C., & Shaver, P. R. (1994). Attachment as an organizational framework for research on close relationships. *Psychological Inquiry*, 5(1), 1–22.
 https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327965pli0501_1
- Hill, N. E., Bush, K. R., & Roosa, M. W. (2003). Parenting and family socialization strategies and children's mental health: Low-income Mexican-American and Euro-American mothers and children. *Child Development*, 74(1), 189–204. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.t01-1-00530
- Hillis, S. D., Anda, R. F., Felitti, V. J., & Marchbanks, P. A. (2001). Adverse childhood experiences and sexual risk behaviors in women: A retrospective cohort study. *Family Planning Perspectives*, 33(5), 206. https://doi.org/10.2307/2673783
- Hovell, M., Sipan, C., Blumberg, E., Atkins, C., Hofstetter, C. R., & Kreitner, S. (1994). Family influences on Latino and Anglo adolescents' sexual behavior. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, *56*(4), 973. https://doi.org/10.2307/353607
- Hutchinson, M. K. (2002). The influence of sexual Risk communication between parents and daughters on sexual risk behaviors*. *Family Relations*, *51*(3), 238–247. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3729.2002.00238.x
- Hutchinson, M. Katherine., Jemmott, J. B., Sweet Jemmott, L., Braverman, P., & Fong, G. T. (2003). The role of mother–daughter sexual risk communication in reducing sexual risk

- behaviors among urban adolescent females: a prospective study. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *33*(2), 98–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1054-139x(03)00183-6
- Jaccard, J., Dodge, T., & Dittus, P. (2002). Parent-adolescent communication about sex and birth control: A conceptual framework. *New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development*, 2002(97), 9–42. https://doi.org/10.1002/cd.48
- Kerr, M. H., Beck, K., Downs Shattuck, T., Kattar, C., & Uriburu, D. (2003). Family involvement, problem and prosocial behavior outcomes of Latino youth. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, 27(1), 55–65. https://doi.org/10.5993/ajhb.27.1.s1.6
- Khoury, C. B., & Findlay, B. M. (2014). What Makes for Good Sex? The associations among attachment style, inhibited communication and sexual satisfaction. *Journal of Relationships Research*, 5. https://doi.org/10.1017/jrr.2014.7
- Lardier, D. T., Opara, I., Herrera, A., Henry, M., Garcia-Reid, P., & Reid, R. J. (2019). Sexual negotiation skills and risky behavior on sexual partnerships, HIV knowledge, and risk perception among urban youth of color: A latent class analysis. *Journal of HIV/AIDS & Social Services*, 18(3), 248–264. https://doi.org/10.1080/15381501.2019.1632237
- Lee, Y.-M., Dancy, B., Florez, E., & Holm, K. (2013). Factors related to sexual practices and successful sexually transmitted infection/HIV intervention programs for Latino adolescents. *Public Health Nursing*, *30*(5), 390–401. https://doi.org/10.1111/phn.12039
- Lefkowitz, E. S., Shearer, C. L., Gillen, M. M., & Espinosa-Hernandez, G. (2014). How gendered attitudes relate to women's and men's sexual behaviors and beliefs. *Sexuality & Culture*, 18(4), 833–846. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12119-014-9225-6

- Lei, L., & South, S. (2016). Racial and ethnic differences in leaving and returning to the parental home. *Demographic Research*, *34*, 109–142. https://doi.org/10.4054/demres.2016.34.4
- Leyser-Whalen, O., & Jenkins, V. (2021). The continuum of sexual and reproductive health talk types daughters have with mothers and siblings. *Sexuality Research and Social Policy*, 19(1), 401–415. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13178-021-00553-2
- Longmore, M. A., Manning, W. D., Giordano, P. C., & Rudolph, J. L. (2003). Contraceptive self-efficacy: Does it influence adolescents' contraceptive use? *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 44(1), 45. https://doi.org/10.2307/1519815
- Lopez, M. H., Krogstad, J. M., & Passel, J. S. (2022). Who is Hispanic? Pew Research Center. https://www.pewresearch.org/short-reads/2022/09/15/who-is-hispanic/
- Maas, M. K., LaBrenz, C. A., Cary, K. M., Buenabad, N. A., & Parra-Cardona, J. R. (2022).
 Gender, romantic relationships and sexual health in Mexico: Parents' experiences of discussion with their children. *Culture, Health & Sexuality*, 1–14.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/13691058.2022.2097740
- Malhotra, S. (2008). Impact of the sexual revolution: consequences of risky sexual behaviors. *Journal of American Physicians and Surgeons*, 13(3), 88.
- Makrides, J., Matson, P., Arrington-Sanders, R., Trent, M., & Marcell, A. V. (2022). Disparities in sexually transmitted infection/HIV testing, contraception, and emergency contraception care among adolescent sexual minority women who are racial/ethnic minorities. *Journal of Adolescent Health*.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2022.08.030

- Markham, C. M., Lormand, D., Gloppen, K. M., Peskin, M. F., Flores, B., Low, B., & House, L.
 D. (2010). Connectedness as a predictor of sexual and reproductive health outcomes for youth. *The Journal of Adolescent Health: Official Publication of the Society for Adolescent Medicine*, 46(3 Suppl), S23-41.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2009.11.214
- Martinez, L. M., & Orpinas, P. (2016). ¿Confías en mí? The impact of Latino parent characteristics on discussions with their adolescent about sexual health and pregnancy prevention. *SAGE Open*, 6(1), 215824401562224.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244015622245
- McCree, D. H., Wingood, G. M., DiClemente, R., Davies, S., & Harrington, K. F. (2003).

 Religiosity and risky sexual behavior in African-American adolescent females. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 33(1), 2–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1054-139x(02)00460-3
- McKee, M. D., & Karasz, A. (2006). "You have to give her that confidence." *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 21(2), 158–184. https://doi.org/10.1177/0743558405285493
- McNeil, J., Rehman, U. S., & Fallis, E. (2017). The influence of attachment styles on sexual communication behavior. *The Journal of Sex Research*, 55(2), 191–201. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224499.2017.1318817
- Miller, B. C., Benson, B., & Galbraith, K. A. (2001). Family relationships and adolescent pregnancy risk: A research synthesis. *Developmental Review*, 21(1), 1–38. https://doi.org/10.1006/drev.2000.0513

- Miller, K. S., Forehand, R., & Kotchick, B. A. (1999). Adolescent sexual behavior in two ethnic minority samples: The role of family variables. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 61(1), 85. https://doi.org/10.2307/353885
- Murphy-Erby, Y., Stauss, K., Boyas, J., & Bivens, V. (2011). Voices of Latino parents and teens:

 Tailored strategies for parent–child communication related to sex. *Journal of Children*and Poverty, 17(1), 125–138. https://doi.org/10.1080/10796126.2011.531250
- Nguyen, N. V., Subasinghe, A. K., Wark, J. D., Reavley, N. J., & Garland, S. M. (2017).

 Psychological distress and risky sexual behaviors among women aged 16-25 years in Victoria, Australia. 46(12), 935–941.
- Perrino, T., Gonzalez-Soldevilla, A., Pantin, H., & Szapocznik, J. (2000). The role of families in adolescent HIV prevention: A review. *Clinical child and family psychology review*, 3, 81-96.
- Pinos, V., Pinos, G., Baitar, R., Jerves, M., & Enzlin, P. (2016). Perception of gender stereotypes, machismo and marianismo in Ecuadorian adolescents: A focus group study. MASKANA, 7(2), 17–28. https://doi.org/10.18537/mskn.07.02.02
- Plourde, K. F., Fischer, S., Cunningham, J., Brady, K., & McCarraher, D. R. (2016). Improving the paradigm of approaches to adolescent sexual and reproductive health. *Reproductive Health*, *13*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12978-016-0191-3
- Pluhar, E. I., DiIorio, C. K., & McCarty, F. (2008). Correlates of sexuality communication among mothers and 6–12-year-old children. *Child: Care, Health and Development*, 34(3), 283–290. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2214.2007.00807.x

- Poulson, R. L., Eppler, M. A., Satterwhite, T. N., Wuensch, K. L., & Bass, L. A. (1998). Alcohol consumption, strength of religious beliefs, and risky sexual behavior in college students. *Journal of American College Health*, 46(5), 227–232.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/07448489809600227
- Prado, G., Pantin, H., Briones, E., Schwartz, S. J., Feaster, D., Huang, S., Sullivan, S., Tapia, M. I., Sabillon, E., Lopez, B., & Szapocznik, J. (2007). A randomized controlled trial of a parent-centered intervention in preventing substance use and HIV risk behaviors in Hispanic adolescents. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 75(6), 914–926. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006x.75.6.914
- Ritchwood, T. D., Ford, H., DeCoster, J., Sutton, M., & Lochman, J. E. (2015). Risky sexual behavior and substance use among adolescents: A meta-analysis. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 52, 74–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2015.03.005
- Ritchwood, T. D., Penn, D., Peasant, C., Albritton, T., & Corbie-Smith, G. (2016). Condom use self-efficacy among younger rural adolescents. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, *37*(2), 267–283. https://doi.org/10.1177/0272431615599065
- Romer, D. (2010). Adolescent risk taking, impulsivity, and brain development: Implications for prevention. Developmental Psychobiology, 52(3). https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.20442
- Romo, L. F., Bravo, M., Cruz, M. E., Rios, R. M., & Kouyoumdjian, C. (2010). "El sexo no es malo": maternal values accompanying contraceptive use Advice to young Latina adolescent Daughters. Sexuality research & social policy: journal of NSRC: SR & SP, 7(2), 118–127. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13178-009-0001-6

- Romo, L. F., Lefkowitz, E. S., Sigman, M., & Au, T. (2001). *Determinants of mother-adolescent communication about sex in Latino families*.
- Romo, L. F., Lefkowitz, E. S., Sigman, M., & Au, T. K. (2002). A longitudinal study of maternal messages about dating and sexuality and their influence on Latino adolescents. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *31*(1), 59–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1054-139x(01)00402-5
- Rogers, A. A., Ha, T., Stormshak, E. A., & Dishion, T. J. (2015). Quality of parent–adolescent conversations about sex and adolescent sexual behavior: An observational study. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *57*(2), 174–178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2015.04.010
- Rostosky, S. S., Wilcox, B. L., Wright, M. L. C., & Randall, B. A. (2004). The impact of religiosity on adolescent sexual behavior: *Journal of Adolescent Research*, *19*(6), 677–697. https://doi.org/10.1177/0743558403260019
- Scott, M. E., Wildsmith, E., Welti, K., Ryan, S., Schelar, E., & Steward-Streng, N. R. (2011).

 Risky adolescent sexual behaviors and reproductive health in young adulthood.

 Perspectives on Sexual and Reproductive Health, 43(2), 110–118.

 https://doi.org/10.1363/4311011
- Sharma, S., Mustanski, B., Dick, D., Bolland, J., & Kertes, D. A. (2019). Protective factors buffer life Stress and behavioral health outcomes among high-risk youth. Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology, 47(8), 1289–1301. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-019-00515-8
- Sibley, C. G., Fischer, R., & Liu, J. H. (2005). Reliability and validity of the revised experiences in close relationships (ECR-R) self-report measure of adult romantic attachment.

- Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 31(11), 1524–1536. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167205276865
- Sutton, M. Y., Lasswell, S. M., Lanier, Y., & Miller, K. S. (2014). Impact of parent-child communication interventions on sex behaviors and cognitive outcomes for Black/African-American and Hispanic/Latino Youth: A Systematic Review, 1988–2012.

 Journal of Adolescent Health, 54(4), 369–384.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2013.11.004
- Talashek, M. L., Norr, K. F., & Dancy, B. L. (2003). Building teen power for sexual health.

 *Journal of Transcultural Nursing, 14(3), 207–216.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1043659603014003007
- Timm, T. M., & Keiley, M. K. (2011). The effects of differentiation of self, adult attachment, and sexual communication on sexual and marital satisfaction: A path analysis. *Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy*, 37(3), 206–223. https://doi.org/10.1080/0092623x.2011.564513
- Valleroy, L. A., MacKellar, D. A., Karon, J. M., Janssen, R. S., & Hayman, C. R. (1998). HIV infection in disadvantaged out-of-school youth: Prevalence for U.S. job corps entrants, 1990 through 1996. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes and Human Retrovirology*, 19(1), 67–73. https://doi.org/10.1097/00042560-199809010-00011
- Vélez-Pastrana, M. C., Gonzalez-Rodriguez, R. A., & Adalisse Borges-Hernandez. (2005).

 Family functioning and early onset of sexual intercourse in Latino adolescents. 40(160), 777–791.
- Villar-Loubet, O. M., Vamos, S., Jones, D. L., Lopez, E., & Weiss, S. M. (2011). A cultural perspective on sexual health: HIV positive and negative monolingual hispanic women in

- South Florida. Hispanic Health Care International, 9(2), 82–90. https://doi.org/10.1891/1540-4153.9.2.82
- Vos, S. D. (1989). Leaving the parental home: Patterns in six Latin American Countries. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, *51*(3), 615. https://doi.org/10.2307/352161
- Wearden, A., Peters, I., Berry, K., Barrowclough, C., & Liversidge, T. (2008). Adult attachment, parenting experiences, and core beliefs about self and others. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 44(5), 1246–1257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2007.11.019
- Wendler, D., Kington, R., Madans, J., Wye, G. V., Christ-Schmidt, H., Pratt, L. A., Brawley, O. W., Gross, C. P., & Emanuel, E. (2005). Are racial and ethnic minorities less willing to participate in health research? PLoS Medicine, 3(2), e19.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.0030019
- Whitaker, D. J., Miller, K. S., May, D. C., & Levin, M. L. (1999). Teenage partners' communication about sexual risk and condom use: The importance of parent-teenager discussions. *Family Planning Perspectives*, *31*(3), 117. https://doi.org/10.2307/2991693
- Wright, P. J. (2009). Father-child sexual communication in the United States: A review and synthesis. *Journal of Family Communication*, 9(4), 233–250. https://doi.org/10.1080/15267430903221880
- Wyckoff, S. C., Miller, K. S., Forehand, R., Bau, J. J., Fasula, A., Long, N., & Armistead, L. (2007). Patterns of sexuality communication between preadolescents and their mothers and fathers. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, *17*(5), 649–662. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-007-9179-5